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SUBCHAPTER P—CIVIL PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE 
FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH ACT OF 1977 

PART 100—CRITERIA AND PROCE-
DURES FOR PROPOSED ASSESS-
MENT OF CIVIL PENALTIES 

Sec. 
100.1 Scope and purpose. 
100.2 Applicability. 
100.3 Determination of penalty amount; reg-

ular assessment. 
100.4 Unwarrantable failure and immediate 

notification. 
100.5 Determination of penalty amount; spe-

cial assessment. 
100.6 Procedures for review of citations and 

orders; procedures for assessment of civil 
penalties and conferences. 

100.7 Notice of proposed penalty; notice of 
contest. 

100.8 Service. 

AUTHORITY: 30 U.S.C. 815, 820, 957. 

EFFECTIVE DATE NOTE: At 81 FR 43455, July 
1, 2016, the authority citation for part 100 
was revised, effective Aug. 1, 2016. For the 
convenience of the user, the revised text is 
set forth as follows: 

AUTHORITY: 5 U.S.C. 301; 30 U.S.C. 815, 820, 
957; 28 U.S.C. 2461 note (Federal Civil Pen-
alties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990); Pub. 
L. 114–74 at § 701; 

SOURCE: 72 FR 13635, Mar. 22, 2007, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 100.1 Scope and purpose. 
This part provides the criteria and 

procedures for proposing civil penalties 
under sections 105 and 110 of the Fed-
eral Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 
(Mine Act). The purpose of this part is 
to provide a fair and equitable proce-
dure for the application of the statu-
tory criteria in determining proposed 
penalties for violations, to maximize 
the incentives for mine operators to 
prevent and correct hazardous condi-
tions, and to assure the prompt and ef-
ficient processing and collection of 
penalties. 

§ 100.2 Applicability. 
The criteria and procedures in this 

part are applicable to all proposed as-
sessments of civil penalties for viola-
tions of the Mine Act and the stand-
ards and regulations promulgated pur-
suant to the Mine Act, as amended. 

MSHA shall review each citation and 
order and shall make proposed assess-
ments of civil penalties. 

§ 100.3 Determination of penalty 
amount; regular assessment. 

(a) General. (1) Except as provided in 
§ 100.5(e), the operator of any mine in 
which a violation occurs of a manda-
tory health or safety standard or who 
violates any other provision of the 
Mine Act, as amended, shall be as-
sessed a civil penalty of not more than 
$70,000. Each occurrence of a violation 
of a mandatory safety or health stand-
ard may constitute a separate offense. 
The amount of the proposed civil pen-
alty shall be based on the criteria set 
forth in sections 105(b) and 110(i) of the 
Mine Act. These criteria are: 

(i) The appropriateness of the penalty 
to the size of the business of the oper-
ator charged; 

(ii) The operator’s history of previous 
violations; 

(iii) Whether the operator was neg-
ligent; 

(iv) The gravity of the violation; 
(v) The demonstrated good faith of 

the operator charged in attempting to 
achieve rapid compliance after notifi-
cation of a violation; and 

(vi) The effect of the penalty on the 
operator’s ability to continue in busi-
ness. 

(2) A regular assessment is deter-
mined by first assigning the appro-
priate number of penalty points to the 
violation by using the appropriate cri-
teria and tables set forth in this sec-
tion. The total number of penalty 
points will then be converted into a 
dollar amount under the penalty con-
version table in paragraph (g) of this 
section. The penalty amount will be 
adjusted for demonstrated good faith in 
accordance with paragraph (f) of this 
section. 

(b) The appropriateness of the penalty 
to the size of the business of the operator 
charged. The appropriateness of the 
penalty to the size of the mine opera-
tor’s business is calculated by using 
both the size of the mine cited and the 
size of the mine’s controlling entity. 
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The size of coal mines and their con-
trolling entities is measured by coal 
production. The size of metal and 
nonmetal mines and their controlling 
entities is measured by hours worked. 
The size of independent contractors is 
measured by the total hours worked at 
all mines. Penalty points for size are 
assigned based on Tables I to V. As 

used in these tables, the terms ‘‘annual 
tonnage’’ and ‘‘annual hours worked’’ 
mean coal produced and hours worked 
in the previous calendar year. In cases 
where a full year of data is not avail-
able, the coal produced or hours 
worked is prorated to an annual basis. 
This criterion accounts for a maximum 
of 25 penalty points. 
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(c) History of previous violations. An 
operator’s history of previous viola-
tions is based on both the total number 
of violations and the number of repeat 
violations of the same citable provision 
of a standard in a preceding 15-month 
period. Only assessed violations that 
have been paid or finally adjudicated, 
or have become final orders of the 
Commission will be included in deter-
mining an operator’s history. The re-
peat aspect of the history criterion in 
paragraph (c)(2) of this section applies 
only after an operator has received 10 
violations or an independent con-

tractor operator has received 6 viola-
tions. 

(1) Total number of violations. For 
mine operators, penalty points are as-
signed on the basis of the number of 
violations per inspection day 
(VPID)(Table VI). Penalty points are 
not assigned for mines with fewer than 
10 violations in the specified history 
period. For independent contractors, 
penalty points are assigned on the 
basis of the total number of violations 
at all mines (Table VII). This aspect of 
the history criterion accounts for a 
maximum of 25 penalty points. 
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(2) Repeat violations of the same 
standard. Repeat violation history is 
based on the number of violations of 
the same citable provision of a stand-

ard in a preceding 15-month period. For 
coal and metal and nonmetal mine op-
erators with a minimum of six repeat 
violations, penalty points are assigned 
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on the basis of the number of repeat 
violations per inspection day (RPID) 
(Table VIII). For independent contrac-
tors, penalty points are assigned on the 

basis of the number of violations at all 
mines (Table IX). This aspect of the 
history criterion accounts for a max-
imum of 20 penalty points (Table VIII). 
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(d) Negligence. Negligence is conduct, 
either by commission or omission, 
which falls below a standard of care es-
tablished under the Mine Act to pro-
tect miners against the risks of harm. 
Under the Mine Act, an operator is 
held to a high standard of care. A mine 
operator is required to be on the alert 
for conditions and practices in the 
mine that affect the safety or health of 
miners and to take steps necessary to 
correct or prevent hazardous condi-
tions or practices. The failure to exer-
cise a high standard of care constitutes 

negligence. The negligence criterion 
assigns penalty points based on the de-
gree to which the operator failed to ex-
ercise a high standard of care. When 
applying this criterion, MSHA con-
siders mitigating circumstances which 
may include, but are not limited to, ac-
tions taken by the operator to prevent 
or correct hazardous conditions or 
practices. This criterion accounts for a 
maximum of 50 penalty points, based 
on conduct evaluated according to 
Table X. 
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(e) Gravity. Gravity is an evaluation 
of the seriousness of the violation. This 
criterion accounts for a maximum of 88 
penalty points, as derived from the Ta-

bles XI through XIII. Gravity is deter-
mined by the likelihood of the occur-
rence of the event against which a 
standard is directed; the severity of the 
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illness or injury if the event has oc-
curred or was to occur; and the number 

of persons potentially affected if the 
event has occurred or were to occur. 
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(f) Demonstrated good faith of the oper-
ator in abating the violation. This cri-
terion provides a 10% reduction in the 
penalty amount of a regular assess-
ment where the operator abates the 
violation within the time set by the in-
spector. 

(g) Penalty conversion table. The pen-
alty conversion table is used to convert 
the total penalty points to a dollar 
amount. 

TABLE XIV—PENALTY CONVERSION TABLE 

Points Penalty ($) 

60 or fewer .................................................... 112 
61 ................................................................... 121 
62 ................................................................... 131 
63 ................................................................... 142 
64 ................................................................... 154 
65 ................................................................... 167 
66 ................................................................... 181 
67 ................................................................... 196 
68 ................................................................... 212 
69 ................................................................... 230 
70 ................................................................... 249 
71 ................................................................... 270 
72 ................................................................... 293 
73 ................................................................... 317 
74 ................................................................... 343 
75 ................................................................... 372 
76 ................................................................... 403 

TABLE XIV—PENALTY CONVERSION TABLE— 
Continued 

Points Penalty ($) 

77 ................................................................... 436 
78 ................................................................... 473 
79 ................................................................... 512 
80 ................................................................... 555 
81 ................................................................... 601 
82 ................................................................... 651 
83 ................................................................... 705 
84 ................................................................... 764 
85 ................................................................... 828 
86 ................................................................... 897 
87 ................................................................... 971 
88 ................................................................... 1,052 
89 ................................................................... 1,140 
90 ................................................................... 1,235 
91 ................................................................... 1,337 
92 ................................................................... 1,449 
93 ................................................................... 1,569 
94 ................................................................... 1,700 
95 ................................................................... 1,842 
96 ................................................................... 1,995 
97 ................................................................... 2,161 
98 ................................................................... 2,341 
99 ................................................................... 2,536 
100 ................................................................. 2,748 
101 ................................................................. 2,976 
102 ................................................................. 3,224 
103 ................................................................. 3,493 
104 ................................................................. 3,784 
105 ................................................................. 4,099 
106 ................................................................. 4,440 
107 ................................................................. 4,810 
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TABLE XIV—PENALTY CONVERSION TABLE— 
Continued 

Points Penalty ($) 

108 ................................................................. 5,211 
109 ................................................................. 5,645 
110 ................................................................. 6,115 
111 ................................................................. 6,624 
112 ................................................................. 7,176 
113 ................................................................. 7,774 
114 ................................................................. 8,421 
115 ................................................................. 9,122 
116 ................................................................. 9,882 
117 ................................................................. 10,705 
118 ................................................................. 11,597 
119 ................................................................. 12,563 
120 ................................................................. 13,609 
121 ................................................................. 14,743 
122 ................................................................. 15,971 
123 ................................................................. 17,301 
124 ................................................................. 18,742 
125 ................................................................. 20,302 
126 ................................................................. 21,993 
127 ................................................................. 23,825 
128 ................................................................. 25,810 
129 ................................................................. 27,959 
130 ................................................................. 30,288 
131 ................................................................. 32,810 
132 ................................................................. 35,543 
133 ................................................................. 38,503 
134 ................................................................. 41,574 
135 ................................................................. 44,645 
136 ................................................................. 47,716 
137 ................................................................. 50,787 
138 ................................................................. 53,858 
139 ................................................................. 56,929 
140 ................................................................. 60,000 
141 ................................................................. 63,071 
142 ................................................................. 66,142 
143 ................................................................. 69,213 
144 or more ................................................... 70,000 

(h) The effect of the penalty on the 
operator’s ability to continue in busi-
ness. MSHA presumes that the opera-
tor’s ability to continue in business 
will not be affected by the assessment 
of a civil penalty. The operator may, 
however, submit information to the 
District Manager concerning the finan-
cial status of the business. If the infor-
mation provided by the operator indi-
cates that the penalty will adversely 
affect the operator’s ability to con-
tinue in business, the penalty may be 
reduced. 

[72 FR 13635, Mar. 22, 2007, as amended at 73 
FR 7209, Feb. 7, 2008] 

EFFECTIVE DATE NOTE: At 81 FR 43455, July 
1, 2016, § 100.3 was amended by revising the 
first sentence of paragraph (a)(1); and revis-
ing Table XIV in paragraph (g), effective 
Aug. 1, 2016. For the convenience of the user, 
the revised text is set forth as follows: 

§ 100.3 Determination of penalty amount; 
regular assessment. 

(a) * * * 

(1) Except as provided in § 100.5(e), the oper-
ator of any mine in which a violation occurs 
of a mandatory health or safety standard or 
who violates any other provision of the Mine 
Act, as amended, shall be assessed a civil 
penalty of not more than $68,300. * * * 

* * * * * 

(g) * * * 

TABLE XIV—PENALTY CONVERSION TABLE 

Points Penalty 
($) 

60 or fewer .................................................... 127 
61 ................................................................... 138 
62 ................................................................... 149 
63 ................................................................... 162 
64 ................................................................... 175 
65 ................................................................... 190 
66 ................................................................... 206 
67 ................................................................... 223 
68 ................................................................... 241 
69 ................................................................... 262 
70 ................................................................... 283 
71 ................................................................... 307 
72 ................................................................... 334 
73 ................................................................... 361 
74 ................................................................... 390 
75 ................................................................... 423 
76 ................................................................... 459 
77 ................................................................... 496 
78 ................................................................... 538 
79 ................................................................... 583 
80 ................................................................... 632 
81 ................................................................... 684 
82 ................................................................... 741 
83 ................................................................... 803 
84 ................................................................... 870 
85 ................................................................... 943 
86 ................................................................... 1,021 
87 ................................................................... 1,105 
88 ................................................................... 1,198 
89 ................................................................... 1,298 
90 ................................................................... 1,406 
91 ................................................................... 1,522 
92 ................................................................... 1,649 
93 ................................................................... 1,786 
94 ................................................................... 1,935 
95 ................................................................... 2,097 
96 ................................................................... 2,271 
97 ................................................................... 2,460 
98 ................................................................... 2,665 
99 ................................................................... 2,887 
100 ................................................................. 3,128 
101 ................................................................. 3,388 
102 ................................................................. 3,670 
103 ................................................................. 3,976 
104 ................................................................. 4,307 
105 ................................................................. 4,666 
106 ................................................................. 5,054 
107 ................................................................. 5,475 
108 ................................................................. 5,932 
109 ................................................................. 6,426 
110 ................................................................. 6,961 
111 ................................................................. 7,540 
112 ................................................................. 8,169 
113 ................................................................. 8,849 
114 ................................................................. 9,586 
115 ................................................................. 10,384 
116 ................................................................. 11,249 
117 ................................................................. 12,186 
118 ................................................................. 13,201 
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TABLE XIV—PENALTY CONVERSION TABLE— 
Continued 

Points Penalty 
($) 

119 ................................................................. 14,301 
120 ................................................................. 15,492 
121 ................................................................. 16,782 
122 ................................................................. 18,180 
123 ................................................................. 19,694 
124 ................................................................. 21,335 
125 ................................................................. 23,110 
126 ................................................................. 25,035 
127 ................................................................. 27,121 
128 ................................................................. 29,380 
129 ................................................................. 31,827 
130 ................................................................. 34,478 
131 ................................................................. 37,349 
132 ................................................................. 40,460 
133 ................................................................. 43,829 
134 ................................................................. 47,325 
135 ................................................................. 50,821 
136 ................................................................. 54,317 
137 ................................................................. 57,812 
138 ................................................................. 61,308 
139 ................................................................. 64,804 
140 or more ................................................... 68,300 

* * * * * 

§ 100.4 Unwarrantable failure and im-
mediate notification. 

(a) The minimum penalty for any ci-
tation or order issued under section 
104(d)(1) of the Mine Act shall be $2,000. 

(b) The minimum penalty for any 
order issued under section 104(d)(2) of 
the Mine Act shall be $4,000. 

(c) The penalty for failure to provide 
timely notification to the Secretary 
under section 103(j) of the Mine Act 
will be not less than $5,000 and not 
more than $65,000 for the following ac-
cidents: 

(1) The death of an individual at the 
mine, or 

(2) An injury or entrapment of an in-
dividual at the mine, which has a rea-
sonable potential to cause death. 

[72 FR 13635, Mar. 22, 2007, as amended at 74 
FR 68919, Dec. 29, 2009; 77 FR 76408, Dec. 28, 
2012] 

EFFECTIVE DATE NOTE: At 81 FR 43455, July 
1, 2016, § 100.4 was amended by revising para-
graphs (a) and (b); and revising introductory 
paragraph (c), effective Aug. 1, 2016. For the 
convenience of the user, the revised text is 
set forth as follows: 

§ 100.4 Unwarrantable failure and imme-
diate notification. 

(a) The minimum penalty for any citation 
or order issued under section 104(d)(1) of the 
Mine Act shall be $2,277. 

(b) The minimum penalty for any order 
issued under section 104(d)(2) of the Mine Act 
shall be $4,553. 

(c) The penalty for failure to provide time-
ly notification to the Secretary under sec-
tion 103(j) of the Mine Act will be not less 
than $5,692 and not more than $68,300 for the 
following accidents: 

§ 100.5 Determination of penalty 
amount; special assessment. 

(a) MSHA may elect to waive the reg-
ular assessment under § 100.3 if it deter-
mines that conditions warrant a spe-
cial assessment. 

(b) When MSHA determines that a 
special assessment is appropriate, the 
proposed penalty will be based on the 
six criteria set forth in § 100.3(a). All 
findings shall be in narrative form. 

(c) Any operator who fails to correct 
a violation for which a citation has 
been issued under Section 104(a) of the 
Mine Act within the period permitted 
for its correction may be assessed a 
civil penalty of not more than $7,500 for 
each day during which such failure or 
violation continues. 

(d) Any miner who willfully violates 
the mandatory safety standards relat-
ing to smoking or the carrying of 
smoking materials, matches, or light-
ers shall be subject to a civil penalty of 
not more than $375 for each occurrence 
of such violation. 

(e) Violations that are deemed to be 
flagrant under section 110(b)(2) of the 
Mine Act may be assessed a civil pen-
alty of not more than $242,000. For pur-
poses of this section, a flagrant viola-
tion means ‘‘a reckless or repeated fail-
ure to make reasonable efforts to 
eliminate a known violation of a man-
datory health or safety standard that 
substantially and proximately caused, 
or reasonably could have been expected 
to cause, death or serious bodily in-
jury.’’ 

[72 FR 13635, Mar. 22, 2007, as amended at 73 
FR 7210, Feb. 7, 2008; 74 FR 68919, Dec. 29, 
2009; 77 FR 76408, Dec. 28, 2012] 

EFFECTIVE DATE NOTE: At 81 FR 43456, July 
1, 2016, § 100.5 was amended by revising para-
graphs (c), (d), and (e), effective Aug. 1, 2016. 
For the convenience of the user, the revised 
text is set forth as follows: 
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§ 100.5 Determination of penalty amount; 
special assessment. 

* * * * * 

(c) Any operator who fails to correct a vio-
lation for which a citation has been issued 
under Section 104(a) of the Mine Act within 
the period permitted for its correction may 
be assessed a civil penalty of not more than 
$7,399 for each day during which such failure 
or violation continues. 

(d) Any miner who willfully violates the 
mandatory safety standards relating to 
smoking or the carrying of smoking mate-
rials, matches, or lighters shall be subject to 
a civil penalty of not more than $313 for each 
occurrence of such violation. 

(e) Violations that are deemed to be fla-
grant under section 110(b)(2) of the Mine Act 
may be assessed a civil penalty of not more 
than $250,433. For purposes of this section, a 
flagrant violation means ‘‘a reckless or re-
peated failure to make reasonable efforts to 
eliminate a known violation of a mandatory 
health or safety standard that substantially 
and proximately caused, or reasonably could 
have been expected to cause, death or serious 
bodily injury.’’ 

§ 100.6 Procedures for review of cita-
tions and orders; procedures for as-
sessment of civil penalties and con-
ferences. 

(a) All parties shall be afforded the 
opportunity to review with MSHA each 
citation and order issued during an in-
spection. It is within the sole discre-
tion of MSHA to grant a request for a 
conference and to determine the nature 
of the conference. 

(b) Upon notice by MSHA, all parties 
will have 10 days within which to sub-
mit additional information or request a 
safety and health conference with the 
District Manager or designee. A con-
ference request may include a request 
to be notified of, and to participate in, 
a conference initiated by another 
party. A conference request must be in 
writing and must include a brief state-
ment of the reason why each citation 
or order should be conferenced. 

(c) When a conference is conducted, 
the parties may submit any additional 
relevant information relating to the 
violation, either prior to or at the con-
ference. To expedite the conference, 
the official assigned to the case may 
contact the parties to discuss the 
issues involved prior to the conference. 

(d) MSHA will consider all relevant 
information submitted in a timely 

manner by the parties with respect to 
the violation. When the facts warrant a 
finding that no violation occurred, the 
citation or order will be vacated. Upon 
conclusion of the conference, or expira-
tion of the conference request period, 
all citations that are abated and all or-
ders will be promptly referred to 
MSHA’s Office of Assessments. The Of-
fice of Assessments will use the cita-
tions, orders, and inspector’s evalua-
tion as the basis for determining the 
appropriate amount of a proposed pen-
alty. 

§ 100.7 Notice of proposed penalty; no-
tice of contest. 

(a) A notice of proposed penalty will 
be issued and served by certified mail, 
or the equivalent, upon the party to be 
charged and by regular mail to the rep-
resentative of miners at the mine after 
the time permitted to request a con-
ference under § 100.6 expires, or upon 
the completion of a conference, or upon 
review by MSHA of additional informa-
tion submitted in a timely manner. 

(b) Upon receipt of the notice of pro-
posed penalty, the party charged shall 
have 30 days to either: 

(1) Pay the proposed assessment. Ac-
ceptance by MSHA of payment ten-
dered by the party charged will close 
the case. 

(2) Notify MSHA in writing of the in-
tention to contest the proposed pen-
alty. When MSHA receives the notice 
of contest, it advises the Federal Mine 
Safety and Health Review Commission 
(Commission) of such notice. No pro-
posed penalty which has been contested 
before the Commission shall be com-
promised, mitigated or settled except 
with the approval of the Commission. 

(c) If the proposed penalty is not paid 
or contested within 30 days of receipt, 
the proposed penalty becomes a final 
order of the Commission and is not 
subject to review by any court or agen-
cy. 

§ 100.8 Service. 
(a) All operators are required by part 

41 (Notification of Legal Identity) of 
this chapter to file with MSHA the 
name and address of record of the oper-
ator. All representatives of miners are 
required by part 40 (Representative of 
Miners) of this chapter to file with 
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MSHA the mailing address of the per-
son or organization acting in a rep-
resentative capacity. Proposed penalty 
assessments delivered to those address-
es shall constitute service. 

(b) If any of the parties choose to 
have proposed penalty assessments 
mailed to a different address, the Office 
of Assessments must be notified in 

writing of the new address. Delivery to 
this address shall also constitute serv-
ice. 

(c) Service for operators who fail to 
file under part 41 of this chapter will be 
upon the last known business address 
recorded with MSHA. 

PARTS 101–103 [RESERVED] 
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